Case 2021AP001339

FILED 11-22-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP001339-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TRACY LAVER HAILES,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Orders Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Janet C. Protasiewicz and Michael J. Hanrahan Presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805augustc@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Police searched two apartments at 618 North 30th Street, believing that they contained evidence of drug-dealing. The search warrant affidavits make clear that this belief was based in large part on Mr. Hailes' actions at a different address, 520 North 29th Street.

Did the search warrant affidavits establish a sufficient "nexus" between Mr. Hailes' conduct at 520 North 29th Street and the two apartments at 618 North 30th Street?

The trial court answered yes. (41:18); (App. 16).

2. As a matter of statutory construction, can the habitual criminality enhancer under Wis. Stat. § 939.62 and the second and subsequent drug offense enhancer under Wis. Stat. § 961.48 be applied to the same charge or conviction?

The trial court answered yes. (57:3-4); (App. 8-9).

3. If it is improper to apply both enhancers to the same charge or conviction, is Mr. Hailes entitled to withdraw his plea?

The trial court did not reach this issue, having determined that the charging scheme was proper.

- 4. If it is improper to apply both enhancers to the same charge or conviction, does this error entitle Mr. Hailes to resentencing?
 - The trial court did not reach this issue, having determined that the charging scheme was proper.
- 5. If it is improper to apply both enhancers to the same charge or conviction, does this error entitle Mr. Hailes to sentence modification?

The trial court did not reach this issue, having determined that the charging scheme was proper.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because this is one of two pending cases concerning the proper interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(c), 1 publication is requested. Oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Background

Police executed three search warrants targeting three different apartments which they believed to be linked to drug activity in Milwaukee: 618 North 30th

 $^{^1}$ See State v. Cloyd, Appeal Nos. 2018 AP001589 & 2019 AP00145.

Filed 11-22-2021

Street, Apartment 102; 618 North 30th Street, Apartment 208; and 520 North 29th Street, Apartment 102. (61:5; 110:2). Based on evidence recovered from 618 North 30th Street, Apartment 102, the State ultimately charged Mr. Hailes with:

- Possession of a firearm as a felon, as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29(2)(a) and 939.62(1)(b);
- Possession with intent to deliver heroin (more than 50 grams) as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(d)4, 939.62(1)(c), and 961.48(1)(a);
- Possession with intent to deliver cocaine (more than 40 grams) as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)4, 961.48(1)(a), and 939.62(1)(c);
- Possession with intent to deliver THC (less than 200 grams) as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(h)1, 961.48(1)(b), and 939.62(1)(b);
- Keeping a drug house as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual

criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.42(1), 939.62(1)(b), and 961.48(1)(b).

(61:1-3).

Based on evidence recovered from 618 North 30th Street, Apartment 208, Mr. Hailes was charged with:

- Possession of a firearm as a felon, as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29(2)(a) and 939.62(1)(b);
- Possession with intent to deliver THC (less than 1,000 grams) as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(h)2, 961.48(1)(b), and 939.62(1)(b);
- Possession with intent to deliver cocaine (1 gram or less) as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)1g, 961.48(1)(b), and 939.62(1)(b).
- Keeping a drug house as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.42(1), 939.62(1)(b), and 961.48(1)(b).

(61:3-5).

All three search warrants have nearly identical supporting affidavits prepared by Milwaukee Police Officer Joseph Esqueda. (106:4; 107:4; 110:5). According to the affidavits for the North 30th Street apartments, Officer Esqueda has ten years of law enforcement experience, including extensive drug enforcement experience. (106:4; 107:4). The affidavits therefore include detailed background information regarding the logistics of the illicit drug trade, as well as the common behaviors of drug dealers. (106:4-5: 107:4-5).

The bulk of the information in the affidavit specific to this case comes from a confidential informant. (106:4-14; 107:4-14). According to Officer Esqueda, the informant was "credible" based on their assistance in another pending criminal matter. (106:7: 107:7). In addition, the affidavit also references the informant's helpful participation in other "investigations." (106:7: 107:7).

The informant told police Mr. Hailes was selling cocaine, heroin, and marijuana from the 520 North 29th Street residence. (106:6; 107:6). The informant claimed to have personally observed Mr. Hailes in possession of cocaine while at that address. (106:7: 107:7).

The informant also told police that Mr. Hailes was residing at "an apartment" at 618 North 30th Street. (106:6: 107:6). The informant was able to describe two cars linked to Mr. Hailes. (106:6; 107:6).

Police observed both cars parked outside the North 30th Street apartment building. (106:6-7: 107:6-7).

The affidavit also discloses that Mr. Hailes' probation agent told police that Mr. Hailes was residing at 618 North 30th Street, Apartment 307 and that he had told the agent that he was planning to move into Apartment 102 within the same building. (106:8: 107:8). Further investigation disclosed that Mr. Hailes was also seen moving furniture into Apartment 208, where he was listed as a subscriber for WE Energies. (106:9: 107:9).

Mr. Hailes' probation agent also informed police that he had seen Mr. Hailes running extension cords from Apartment 307 to Apartment 208, presumably to stay connected to electronic monitoring equipment required as a condition of his supervision. (106:9: 107:9). The agent also claimed to see men he identified as "lookouts" within the apartment building. (106:10: 107:10). In addition, Mr. Hailes has a prior criminal history involving drug trafficking convictions. (106:10: 107:10-11).

Motion to Suppress

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress "all evidence" seized from Apartments 102 and 208 at the North 30th Street address along with "the fruits" of illegal law enforcement conduct. (9:1-4). As grounds, the motion asserted that the affidavits for the search warrants failed to establish probable cause with respect to the apartments at the North 30th Street location. (9:3).

The court, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak presiding, held a non-evidentiary hearing on the motion. (41). The court noted that the confidential informant had seen Mr. Hailes with drugs on two separate occasions at the 520 North 29th Street address. (41:15). Officers then verified Mr. Hailes' connection to the North 30th Street building. (41:15): (App. 13). While the officers did not observe any drug dealing at that location, (41:15); (App. 13), the court relied on the expertise of the officer who drafted the affidavit, "indicating that drug dealers oftentimes do have the tools of their trade, that being the guns, the drugs themselves, and the items utilized for drug dealing within their apartments or their homes or residences." (41:16-17); (App. 14-15). In addition, the court also found that the affidavit sufficiently established the credibility and reliability of the confidential informant. (41:17-18); (App. 15-16). It therefore denied the motion to suppress. (41:18); (App. 16).

Plea and Sentence

Following the denial of the suppression motion, Mr. Hailes agreed to resolve the case by entering a plea. (39). Mr. Hailes pleaded guilty to: (1) Count One, possession of a firearm by a felon, as a habitual criminal; (2) Count Two, as amended, possession with intent to deliver heroin (10-50 grams), as a habitual criminal and as a second and subsequent offense; (3) Count Three, possession with intent to deliver cocaine (greater than 40 grams) as a habitual criminal and as a second and subsequent offense; (4) Count Six,

possession of a firearm by a felon, as a habitual criminal; (5) Count Eight, possession with intent to deliver cocaine (1 gram or less) as a habitual criminal and as a second and subsequent offense. (39:3; 83:1-4). The remaining counts were dismissed and read-in. (39:3). Under the terms of the agreement, both sides would be free to argue at sentencing. (87:2).

The court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz, imposed a global sentence of 16 years initial confinement followed by 11 years of extended supervision. (30:1).

Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Hailes filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion arguing that both the habitual criminality enhancer and the second and subsequent drug offense enhancer could not be applied to the same charge or conviction. (56:4). Mr. Hailes argued that this defect rendered his plea not knowing, intelligent or voluntary. (56:7). In addition and in the alternative, Mr. Hailes also argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not challenging the improper charging scheme and for not advising Mr. Hailes, prior to accepting a plea, that he could not be convicted of both enhancers. (56:11). Mr. Hailes further argued that, if the court did not allow him to withdraw his pleas, the enhancer issue entitled him to either resentencing or sentence modification. (56:13).

The court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz presiding, denied the motion in a written order, without a hearing. (57); (App. 6-10). Because the court

concluded that it was not improper to apply both enhancers to the same charge or conviction, it concluded that none of Mr. Hailes' legal claims merited relief. (57:4-5); (App. 9-10).

Mr. Hailes then filed a supplemental postconviction motion, raising additional arguments for plea withdrawal arising out of the improper charging scheme. (80). The court, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan presiding, denied that motion for the same reason—it did not accept Mr. Hailes' argument that the charging scheme was improper. (95:1-2); (App. 11-12).

This appeal follows. (96).

ARGUMENT

- I. The search warrant affidavits fail to establish a "nexus" between Mr. Hailes' conduct at the 520 North 29th Street residence and the two apartments at 618 North 30th Street. Accordingly, the court should have granted the motion to suppress.
 - A. Legal standard and standard of review.

Both the state and federal constitutions forbid the issuance of search warrants absent probable cause. U.S. Const. Amend. IV & XIV; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 11. The two provisions offer "essentially identical" protections. See State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, \P 55, 231 Wis.2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517.

In assessing a challenge to a search warrant, this Court must ask "whether objectively viewed, the record before the warrant-issuing judge provided 'sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that they will be found in the place to be searched." Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 27 (citations omitted); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983).

While this Court is instructed to give "great deference" to the magistrate's determination of probable cause, "whether the language of the search warrant meets constitutional requirements for reasonableness is a question of law and [this Court's] review is *de novo*." *State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, 24, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760.

B. The "nexus" requirement.

Probable cause must be specific to the place searched. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238; *Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 27. Thus, "probable cause to believe that a person has committed a crime does not automatically give the police probable cause to search his house for evidence of that crime." *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 995, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991). Accordingly, even when there is "sufficient evidence" to label a person as a "drug dealer," that fact alone does not establish "that there is sufficient evidence to search the suspect's home." *Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 36.

Page 19 of 46

This Court placed significant emphasis on this "nexus" requirement in State v. Sloan, 2007 WI App 146, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189. In that case, UPS alerted police to a package that had been dropped off for shipment which UPS staff believed to contain illegal drugs. Id., ¶ 2-5. Police confirmed that the package contained marijuana, and obtained a search warrant for the location listed as the return address. Id. Police had footage of Sloan dropping the package off, confirmed that Dept. of Transportation records listed the return address as Sloan's address, observed two cars registered to Sloan parked at that address, and verified that Sloan received utility services in his name at that location. Id., ¶¶ 5, 29.

This Court concluded that none of these facts were sufficient to establish probable cause to search the address listed on the package of marijuana. *Id.*, ¶ 38. While police adequately established that Sloan had a connection to the targeted residence, the Court nevertheless concluded that "[t]he lack of any factual connections between crimes by Sloan or others and the residence to be searched is fatal to a finding of probable cause." Id. In this Court's view, "there must be some factual connection between the items that are evidence of the suspected criminal activity and the place to be searched." Id. This factual connection requires more than the generic "legal conclusions" of the law enforcement affiant. Id., ¶ 31.

Importantly, this Court was clear that the "nexus" requirement is essential for the overall integrity of the Fourth Amendment; without it, the constitution's protections are "dilute[d] [...] to the strength of mist or vapor." Id., ¶ 38.

C. The affidavits do not establish a nexus between Mr. Hailes's alleged drug-dealing at the 520 North 29th Street address and the two apartments searched at 618 North 30th Street.

Mr. Hailes concedes that the affidavits in this case establish probable cause with respect to 520 North 29th Street, as they contain specific descriptions of illegal activity occurring at that residence. However, just as in *Sloan*, the affidavits fail to prove that there is any nexus between that activity and the two apartments searched at 618 North 30th Street.

Instead, the bulk of the information in the affidavits merely establishes that Mr. Hailes has a connection to these two apartments, not that he is storing drugs or contraband in either location. none of this information Following Sloan, sufficiently suggestive to prove that either apartment "probably" contained evidence of a crime. Thus, the mere fact that Mr. Hailes had been seen moving in and out of these apartments, that he had subscribed to utilities at one of these addresses, or that his car had been present at the apartment complex, without more, fails to establish probable cause, where there have been no actual observations of illegal behavior at that location. Sloan, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 38. In this case, there was no "surveillance that shows anything about the house that suggests criminal activity might be Case 2021AP001339

afoot" nor was there any "claim of prior police reports of drug sales or other suspicious activity at that address." Id., ¶ 32.

only Instead, there are three possibly suggestive pieces of evidence, none of which are significant enough to meet the constitutionallyimposed probable cause requirement. First, the probation agent claimed to see "lookouts" at the 618 North 30th Street address. (106:10: 107:10). However, unlike the police officer author of the affidavit, there is nothing in this record that would establish the probation agent's knowledge, experience, or ability to tell the difference between individuals lawfully present within the vicinity of the residence and suspected drug accomplices. The probation agent's observation is nothing more than a hunch, which cannot establish probable cause. After all, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has made clear that a hunch is insufficient to satisfy the even lower standard of proof required for reasonable suspicion. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. The probation agent's conclusory suspicions criminality, untethered from any indicia of reliability—such as drug investigation experience add little, if anything, to the probable cause analysis.

Second, the affidavit leans heavily on Mr. Hailes' prior record, which includes numerous drug offenses. (106:10-11: 107:10-11). Again, however, our supreme court has made clear that this status alone, without more, cannot furnish probable cause to search

an apparently unrelated residence or location. Ward, 2000 WI 3, \P 36.

Third, the affidavit is also reliant on the officer's training, which asserts that drug traffickers may keep evidence of their crimes in locations other than the site of actual drug transactions. (106:5; 107:5). Such conclusory assertions were rejected by this Court in *Sloan*, which held that such claims do not provide the requisite *factual* connection. *Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 32. Merely describing the stereotypical behaviors of drug dealers is insufficient to establish probable cause. Instead, police must establish why such generic observations "probably" apply to the facts of this case. Because the affidavit does not make the requisite connection, it is plainly deficient.

Accordingly, because the evidence is clear that police had no actual evidence that criminality was occurring at the 618 North 30th Street apartments, the warrant failed to establish probable cause. The resulting search was unlawful and the evidence obtained must be suppressed.

D. Good faith does not excuse the actions of law enforcement.

Assuming that this Court agrees that the searches were unlawful, the Court must then address the applicability of the good-faith exception. See State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 27, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625; United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 918-20 (1984).

Page 23 of 46

Under federal law, the State must prove that the "police relied in good faith on the judge's decision to accept the affidavit and issue the warrant." United States v. Koerth, 312 F.3d 862 (7th Cir. 2002). While the officer's decision to obtain the warrant establishes a prima facie case of good faith, that prima facie case can be rebutted under two scenarios:

> (1) If the reviewing authority "wholly abandoned his judicial role or otherwise failed in his duty to perform his neutral and detached function and not serve merely as a rubber stamp for the police."

> > or

(2) "[T]he officer submitted an affidavit so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable."

Id. (citing Leon, 468 U.S. at 923) (quotations omitted).

In this case, the facts and circumstances satisfy both criteria, such that good faith does not apply. Here, the reviewing authority "rubber-stamped" an affidavit that contains no evidence whatsoever regarding drug-dealing at 618 North 30th Street. The search warrant was thus deficient on its face and either the magistrate, or the officer who relied on it, should have been aware of its flaws. Because they chose to act anyway, the exclusionary sanction should apply.

In addition, Wisconsin law provides an extra layer of protection in its good-faith analysis. For the good faith exception to apply under Wisconsin law, the State must satisfactorily prove that:

- 1. Officers conducted a significant investigation before obtaining the warrant;
- 2. The warrant was reviewed by a knowledgeable police officer or government attorney; and
- 3. A reasonably well-trained police officer would not know the search was illegal.

State v. Scull, 2015 WI 22, ¶ 38, 361 Wis. 2d 288, 862 N.W.2d 562.

Here, the State cannot satisfy its burden with respect to the first prong, because police failed to conduct an adequate investigation of the 618 North 30th Street address before obtaining the warrant. Instead, police relied almost entirely on information obtained regarding 520 North 29th completely separate address, and did not make sufficient efforts to investigate whether 618 North 30th Street was also a site of potential drug activity before applying for a search warrant. For example, police did not bother to observe whether there was substantial traffic between the two locations which would be consistent with drug activity. They did not bother to double-check the probation agent's claims of drug "lookouts" at the building. Most importantly, they never verified whether there was any increase in

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