FILED 02-07-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1339-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TRACY LAVER HAILES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JANET C. PROTASIEWICZ AND HONORABLE MICHAEL J. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

This Court reviews "a warrant-issuing magistrate's determination of whether the affidavit in support of the order was sufficient to show probable cause with 'great deference." *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 14, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798 (citation omitted).

B. A reviewing court upholds a decision to issue a warrant unless the facts in the search-warrant affidavit are clearly insufficient to support a finding of probable cause.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and establish the requirements for the issuance of a search warrant. *Tate*, 357 Wis. 2d 172, ¶ 27.

One requirement is that "the person seeking a warrant demonstrate upon oath or affirmation sufficient facts to support probable cause to believe that 'the evidence sought will aid in a particular apprehension or conviction for a particular offense." Tate, 357 Wis. 2d 172, ¶ 30 (citation omitted). Further, there must be "probable cause to believe that evidence is located in a particular place." State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517.

"Probable cause is 'more than a possibility, but not a probability, that the conclusion is more likely than not." State v. Sloan, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 23, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189 (citation omitted). Courts determine whether probable cause exists based on the totality of the circumstances. Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 26. "[A] probable cause determination must be based upon what a reasonable magistrate can infer from the information presented by the police." *Id.* The key question is "whether objectively viewed, the record before the warrantissuing judge provided 'sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that they will be found in the place to be searched." *Id.* ¶ 27 (citation omitted).

"Probable cause [for a search warrant] is not a technical, legalistic concept[,] but a flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." State v. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 547-48, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991), overruled on other grounds, State v. Greve, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479. And a "reasonable inference support[ing] the probable cause determination" suffices—it does not matter that a competing inference of lawful conduct exists. State v. Dunn, 121 Wis. 2d 389, 398, 359 N.W.2d 151 (1984). "The test is not whether the inference drawn is the only reasonable inference. The test is whether the inference drawn is a reasonable one." State v. Jones, 2002 WI App 196, ¶ 10, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

Moreover, probable cause is not an unvarying standard but changes depending on the particular stage of the proceedings and the nature of the interest at stake. The further along in the proceedings, the higher the standard for probable cause. Cty. of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 308–09, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999). For example, the quantum of evidence necessary to support a determination of probable cause for a search warrant is less than that required for bindover following a preliminary examination. Sloan, 303 Wis. 2d 438, ¶ 23.

The person challenging the warrant bears the burden of demonstrating that the evidence before the warrant-issuing judge was insufficient. State v. DeSmidt, 155 Wis. 2d 119, 132, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990). "A warrant-issuing magistrate's determination of probable cause will be affirmed unless the facts asserted in support of the warrant are clearly insufficient to support probable cause." Tate, 357 Wis. 2d 172, ¶ 14.

#### C. A reasonable inference to draw from the facts in the search-warrant affidavits is that there was drug-crime evidence in Hailes's apartments.

Under a lens of great deference, this Court should conclude that the search-warrant affidavits state probable cause to believe that drug-crime evidence would be found at Hailes's apartments.

Hailes concedes that the search-warrant affidavits state probable cause to believe that drug-crime evidence would be found at the 29th Street location. (Hailes's Br. 20.) He revives his argument that there are no facts tying his drug-dealing activities at 29th Street to the apartments at 30th Street. (Hailes's Br. 20–22.) He's wrong.

All that matters is that the search-warrant affidavits contain information "sufficient for a reasonable person to

Filed 02-07-2022

logically infer that evidence would be found" at Hailes's apartments. Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 27. If the searchwarrant affidavits simply documented Hailes's extensive history as a drug dealer and his current dealing at the 29th Street location (R. 106:6–13), his motion to suppress may have been successful. See Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 36 ("[W]e are not suggesting that when there is sufficient evidence to identify an individual as a drug dealer . . . that there is sufficient evidence to search the suspect's home."). But there's more than that.

A reasonable and obvious inference to draw from the facts in the search-warrant affidavits is that Hailes, who was on probation and subject to electronic monitoring, was hiding a domicile from his probation agent. The agent thought that Hailes was living in apartment 307, only to find numerous extension and phone cords running from apartment 307 to apartment 208 on an unscheduled visit. (R. 106:8–9.) This was indicative of Hailes cheating the electronic monitoring system. (R. 106:9–10.) Perhaps suspicion could have been dispelled when the agent learned that Hailes was moving from apartment 307 to another apartment in the complex. (R. 106:8–9.) But Hailes didn't report moving into apartment 208—he said he'd be living in apartment 102, and he walked the agent through that apartment. (R. 106:8.) Yet, he had subscribed to utilities at apartment 208, and a reliable CI saw him moving furniture into that apartment. (R. 106:6, 9.) On these facts, it's reasonable to infer that Hailes was hiding an apartment from his probation agent.

Another reasonable and obvious inference to draw from the facts in the search-warrant affidavits is that Hailes set up a surveillance or alarm system at the apartment complex. Every time the probation agent went to visit Hailes scheduled or unscheduled—he was greeted by someone as he approached the building. (R. 106:10.) That person, in turn, wouldn't simply retrieve Hailes. Instead, they would get the

Filed 02-07-2022

apartment manager, who just happened to live with Hailes. (R. 106:10.) Further, on two occasions, the probation agent saw what appeared to be "lookouts" for the apartment building. (R. 106:10.) These individuals would walk the perimeter of the complex, looking back and forth. (R. 106:10.) And they had some connection to the complex, as the agent had seen them either walk into the complex or sit near the front entrance. (R. 106:10.) From these facts, it's reasonable to infer that Hailes had set up a surveillance or alarm system at his place of residence.

Given the totality of the circumstances—an entrenched and active drug dealer who's hiding an apartment from his probation agent and employing a surveillance system outside his apartment complex—common sense says that drug-crime evidence likely would be found at the apartments. But the magistrate here had more than common sense to help him reach that conclusion, as the search-warrant affidavits contain information linking the above facts to criminal activity based on Officer Esqueda's training and experience in drug trafficking.

For example, drug traffickers like Hailes "are not easily deterred by law enforcement actions, and commonly continue criminal activities for long periods of time." (R. 106:13.) Those on probation, like Hailes, will maintain "a second . . . or even third residence . . . to avoid detection by their probation agents and from law enforcement" as they continue their criminal enterprise. (R. 106:9.) And drug traffickers like Hailes commonly use "look-outs . . . to provide an early detection system to the presence of law enforcement." (R. 106:12.) Not to mention, drug traffickers like Hailes commonly keep drug-crime evidence in their residences or other places where they "maintain or exercise control." (R. 106:4–5.)

In short, the search-warrant affidavits here don't "[m]erely describe[e] the stereotypical behaviors of drug dealers" without "establish[ing] why such generic observations 'probably' apply to the facts of this case." (Hailes's Br. 22.) It's quite strikingly the opposite.

Hailes makes the above representation by ignoring the totality of the circumstances. He submits that it's perfectly normal that he was "moving in and out of" apartments and "had subscribed to utilities at one of these addresses." (Hailes's Br. 20.) But he doesn't mention that he was subject to electronic monitoring and never told his probation agent about his connection to apartment 208, despite putting the utilities in his name. (Hailes's Br. 20-22.) Further, Hailes thinks nothing of the probation agent's observation of lookouts at the apartment complex, suggesting that a person needs training and experience to identify a lookout. (Hailes's Br. 21.) Even if that's true (it's not), what of the other surveillance techniques Hailes employed at the apartment complex? Was it normal to have two people serving as gatekeepers to his apartment? Doesn't that odd setup for visitors make the agent's "lookout" conclusion all the more reasonable? Hailes doesn't weigh in, though the burden is his. *DeSmidt*, 155 Wis. 2d at 132.

Instead, Hailes relies on *Sloan*, a case that's inapposite. (Hailes's Br. 19–22.) There, unlike here, the search-warrant affidavit for Sloan's residence gave "the reader no reason to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On this point, it's noteworthy that the CI saw Hailes possess a firearm at the 29th Street location and while driving his Infiniti on over 50 occasions. (R. 106:6–8.) Police observed the Infiniti parked in front of the 30th Street apartment complex. (R. 106:7.)

Filed 02-07-2022

conclude Sloan [was] a drug trafficker."<sup>4</sup> Sloan, 303 Wis. 2d 438, ¶ 38. So, the officer's description of the stereotypical behavior of drug traffickers carried no weight, whereas it does here. Id. Further, the search-warrant affidavit in Sloan didn't identify any "suspicious activity" connected to Sloan's residence. Id. ¶ 35. All it showed was that Sloan attempted to mail marijuana at a UPS store in Elm Grove and listed his West Allis residence as the "return address" on the package. Id. ¶¶ 2, 29. That's very different from the search-warrant affidavits here, which show that an entrenched and active drug dealer was hiding an apartment from his probation agent and employing a surveillance or alarm system outside his place of residence.

This case is about the totality of the circumstances and the reasonable inferences to draw therefrom. Given the great deference afforded to the magistrate's probable cause determination, *see Tate*, 357 Wis. 2d 172, ¶ 14, this isn't a close call. This Court should affirm.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hailes omits this critical distinction when he claims that under *Sloan*, Officer Esqueda's observations based on his training and experience are entitled to no weight in the probable cause analysis. (Hailes's Br. 22.) The *Sloan* opinion repeatedly notes that nothing in the search-warrant affidavit suggested that Sloan was a drug dealer: "[N]or is there evidence of Sloan's prior actual or suspected involvement with marijuana or other controlled substances. [The search-warrant affidavit] does not claim that Sloan fits any relevant profile of someone involved in [drug dealing]." *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 32, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State requested an opportunity to argue the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule at the suppression hearing, if the circuit court found the search-warrant affidavits lacking. (R. 41:14–15.) The court's ruling obviated the need to develop a record on good faith. Therefore, if this Court disagrees that the search-warrant affidavits state probable cause, a remand is appropriate. See, e.g., State v. Anker, 2014 WI App 107, ¶¶ 25–27, 357 Wis. 2d

### II. Hailes isn't entitled to plea withdrawal or sentencing relief.

Believing that he was improperly charged with and convicted of counts with both the repeater enhancer and the second and subsequent enhancer, Hailes seeks plea withdrawal, sentence modification, or resentencing. (Hailes's Br. 34–45.) He's not entitled to any of these things because the enhancers properly applied. Even if they didn't, Hailes's claims would still fail.

#### A. Standards of review.

Hailes's remaining arguments implicate principles of statutory interpretation, plea withdrawal, ineffective assistance, "new factor" sentence modification, resentencing based on inaccurate information, forfeiture, and harmless error.

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court decides de novo. *State v. Shoeder*, 2019 WI App 60,  $\P$  6, 389 Wis. 2d 244, 936 N.W.2d 172.

Whether a defendant's plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily is a question of constitutional fact.  $State\ v.\ Dillard$ , 2014 WI 123, ¶ 38, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. The circuit court's findings of historical fact must be upheld unless clearly erroneous. Id. An appellate court determines independently whether those facts demonstrate that the plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, benefitting from the circuit court's analysis. Id.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance is also a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. This Court upholds "the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly

<sup>565, 855</sup> N.W.2d 483 (remanding for an evidentiary hearing on whether an exception to the exclusionary rule applied).

Filed 02-07-2022

erroneous." *Id.* The ultimate determination of whether counsel was ineffective is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Id.* 

Whether a "new factor" exists for purposes of sentence modification is a legal question this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶¶ 36–37, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828.

This Court reviews de novo the constitutional issue of whether a defendant has been denied his due process right to be sentenced upon accurate information. *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

This Court independently decides whether forfeiture applies or whether an error is harmless. *State v. Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 17, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 937 N.W.2d 579.

B. This Court has already held that both enhancers may apply to a defendant, assuming different prior convictions support them.

In Hailes's view, "either the second and subsequent drug offense enhancer or the habitual criminal statute may be applied [to a defendant], but not both." (Hailes's Br. 31.)

That's exactly what the defendant argued in *Maxey*: "Maxey's contention is that he cannot be subjected to multiple sentence enhancement as a repeat drug offender under WIS. STAT. § 961.48(2) and as a habitual criminal under WIS. STAT. § 939.62(1)(b)." *State v. Maxey*, 2003 WI App 94, ¶ 16, 264 Wis. 2d 878, 663 N.W.2d 811. This Court rejected that argument, "hold[ing] that the repeat drug offender provisions of WIS. STAT. § 961.48(2) and the habitual criminal repeater provisions of WIS. STAT. § 939.62(1)(b) may be applied against Maxey," as different prior convictions supported the enhancers. Id. ¶¶ 21, 23.

It's important to understand how this Court reached the above conclusion. As Hailes acknowledges, the language of both enhancer statutes controlled the outcome. (Hailes's Br. 33.) Following State v. Delaney, 2003 WI 9, 259 Wis. 2d 77, 658 N.W.2d 416, this Court asked whether either enhancer statute contained the exception that Maxey sought. Maxey, 264 Wis. 2d 878, ¶¶ 16–18. The answer was no. This Court explained, "[N]othing in the language of § 939.62 states or suggests that the State's invocation of the habitual criminal provisions of the statute serves to bar application of other statutory penalty enhancement schemes." Id. ¶¶ 17–18. It continued, "[N]othing in the language of § 961.48 states or suggests that the State's invocation of the repeat drug offender provisions of the statute serves to bar application of other statutory penalty enhancement schemes." Id. Finding "no conflict between [the] penalty enhancer schemes set out in the Uniform Controlled Substances Act and § 939.62," this Court gave "effect to both" enhancer statutes. *Id.* ¶ 22.

### C. *Maxey* is still good law and controls the outcome here.

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